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In November 2008, Plaintiff Donna Miller and Defiamt Leon Hunter
Wilson were engaged in divorce litigation in Westgihia. They were also each
50% owners of a West Virginia corporation, Defertddanter Company of West
Virginia. On November 21, 2008, a West Virginiatst court, the Berkeley
County Family Court, entered an order directing pagment of approximately
$4.9 million from Wilson to Miller, in return for kich Wilson would receive
Miller's half interest in Hunter Company; this d&ioin has since been reversed and
remanded. Hunter Company was the partner of Dafgndational Land Partners,
a Delaware limited liability company, in severahlrestate development projects.
Shortly after the entry of the order directing Hiorpay approximately $4.9 million
to Miller, Wilson caused Hunter Company to pay fayghat amount to National
Land Partners. According to Wilson, this paymergswwed under Wilson’s
agreements with National Land Partners. Milleragrees, and considers the
payment a fraudulent conveyance to avoid satisfactif the Berkeley County
Family Court’s order. She brought this action,kegg a declaratory judgment
confirming her theory, as well as imposition ofrast over the money paid to
National Land Partners. The parties agree thabgesative agreements between
Hunter Company and National Land Partners did maet,written, require the
payment, but the Defendants contend that that cause the written agreements

inadvertently left out language making Hunter Compeesponsible for “negative



management fees,” which language represented tiee dgreement among the
Defendants.

This matter is presented on cross-motions for suymelgment, and the
issue before me is a narrow one: was the paymeiNatmnal Land Partners
required by the agreements between Wilson, Hunbengany and National Land
Partners? In order for me to reach that conclysfenburden is on the Defendants
to demonstrate, in effect, that the agreementsidhoel reformed to include the
missing term regarding negative management feesis 1 a high burden;
nonetheless, for the reasons that follow, | coneltcht the agreements did contain
this term, and that the Defendants are entitigddgment.

|.FACTS

While married, Plaintiff Donna Miller and Defendadreon Hunter Wilson
each owned a 50% interest in Defendant Hunter Cayngd West Virginia
("“HCWV,” and together with Wilson, the “Hunter Defeants”), a real estate
development company incorporated in West VirginiaWilson is HCWV'’s
President, performs the functions of CEO and, smgeaeparation from Miller, has

also become involved in the managerial aspects@VM.? Prior to their divorce,

! See, e.g.Trial Tr. 99:15-100:1, 100:13-101:10.
2 JX 41 (Wilson Aff.) T 1.

3



Miller also served as an officer and director of WMZ.®> Together, Wilson and
Miller are the sole directors of HCWV/.

Early in their careers, both Miller and Wilson Wwed for Patten
Corporation, a real estate company owned by Harrpal®ter?. Patten has since
sold his interest in that company and, in 1999nétmd Land Partners, LLC (“Land
Partners”), a real estate development companyctiaged its name to National
Land Partners, LLC (“National Land Partners”) inp&amber 2002. National
Land Partners is incorporated in Delaware and meshdgy American Land
Partners, Inc. (“American Land Partner§”)Patten serves as an officer of both
National Land Partners and American Land Parthean Murray is National
Land Partners’ CFO and American Land Partners’ VApesident. Murray is also
an officer of Inland Management Corporation, whidanages various financial

and human resources functions for National Landnies, such as its payroll,

3 SeeJX 39 at 4 (“Donna Miller has not resigned as afic®f or Director nor has she conveyed
her stock to Hunter Wilson.”).

* Seeluly 31, 2013 Oral Arg. Tr. 34:1-2 (explaining theiison and Miller “are the sole officers,
sole directors, sole shareholders” of HCWV).

> SeeTrial Tr. 37:5-7, 98:8-9, 397:24-398:2.

°1d. at 36:13-38:3; JX 7.

" Trial Tr. 34:16-18; JX 7.

® Trial Tr. 34:4-6, 35:3-6.

%|d. at 247:16-23. The record makes clear that, wbif© is not Murray’s official title, he acts
in that capacity for National Land Partners; ashwother aspects of National Land Partners’
business, the operations of personnel was somemfbaial.
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accounts payable, accounting, financial statemegpgration, tax reporting, and
marketing:°

Wilson’s business relationship with Patten begai986™" In the 1990s,
Wilson began managing real estate development qisojor Patten in West
Virginia through HCWV*? Wilson, who has approximately twenty-seven ye#rs
experience in land developménglso has an educational background in foréétry.
Consequently, many of the Defendants’ projects afsxdude a timber sales
component.

To facilitate these joint projects, National LanaktAers owns the properties
through a wholly-owned subsidiary, WV Hunter, LEC National Land Partners,
moreover, is responsible for the accounting andniomal aspects of these projects,
for which HCWV acts as an independent contrattoBenerally,

[ulnder the parties’ arrangement, the role of [HCMW¥hrough

Wilson, includes identifying property that would aidy for

development, completing due diligence and feagybitudies to

determine if [National Land Partners] should pusghghe property,
conducting engineering and design work, obtainiiigoarmits and

191d. at 245:13-247:3, 248:4-10see also id.at 106:18 (Wilson) (noting that “Inland
Management’s owned by [National Land Partners]”).

11d. at 103:24-104:3.

12 5ee, e.gid. at 38:18-20, 99:7-101:10.

13 JX 41 (Wilson Aff.) T 1.

“ Trial Tr. 97:14-19.

15 See, e.g.id. at 252:10-22 (Murray) (“WV Hunter, LLC is a single-meer limited liability
company owned by National Land Partners. WhenadNati Land Partners does projects, it
forms a limited liability company in each of theat&s that we are doing projects as a way of
segregating revenues and expenses really for incameeporting. . . . WV Hunter, LLC . . .
owns the real estate that is managed by [HCWV].”).

1®See, e.gJX 9 at §§ 5.1-5.2; JX 11 at §§ 5.1-5.2; JX 15865.2.
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subdivision approval and overseeing the constraaifanfrastructure.

Following completion of road and utility systemsHQWV]

oversee[s] [National Land Partners] employees sgnas a sales

force, conducting advertising, marketing and offremotions, selling

the building lots and overseeing closings of propst’
Wilson does not have any ownership interest indviai Land Partner$.

A. The Management Agreements

At trial, Patten emphasized that he “like[s] dolmgsiness with people who
you can trust and shake their hand and a dealsal™ In accordance with this
principle, Patten and Wilson traditionally negatttthe details of each project
orally, confirming their agreements with a handsifdkAs Wilson testified:

.. . most of our deals were done on handshakesill tell you that

right now. I've shook hands with that man on mdeals, and that’s

the way we did business. And it always seemedaik wNoO one ever

got hurt. . . . | can remember a lot of deals thate never anything

more than a handshake.
However, as National Land Partners continued tavgtbe Defendants began to

convert their informal agreements into written cants®> Consequently, over the

years, the Defendants have entered into severahgeament agreements, each

173X 40 (Murray Aff.) at | 4see alsorrial Tr. 100:15-101:10.

'%1d. at 103:19-20.

191d. at 74:21-23see also idat 44:8-11 (“. . . | pride myself on keeping myegments. My
word is my word. And [Wilson’s] always been thaaywith me and I've always been that way
with him.”).

0 See, e.gid. at 35:24-36:12, 44:7-11, 74:21-75:2.

*L1d. at 105:14-24.

22 See, e.gid.; see also idat 74:21-75:2 (Patten) (‘I like doing business witople who you
can trust and shake their hand and a deal's a dBat. I've been trained and harassed into
documentation, doing contracts and all those thingghat | hate to read.”).
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drafted by Murray?> Among other things, these management agreememésred
the profit allocation between HCWV and National ddPartners.

In addition to the management agreements, the Dafdés also negotiated
schedules for each project, subsequently codifietMbrray, which contained the
“budget-type numbers” for each projétt.Each schedule was associated with a
particular management agreement. Miller did natigpate in negotiating the
terms of these management agreements or assostdtedules, and was never a
signatory to any of these agreements, although dWilkept her apprised of
HCWV’s relationship with National Land Partnersahghout the years.

Several agreements among the Defendants are pertinghis litigation; for
ease of reference, these agreements are alsoeglthirFigure 1. On July 17, 2000,
Wilson, HCWV, and Land Partners entered into a rgangent agreement that
governed the Berkeley Glen and Meadows at SleepgkCProjects (the “2000

Management Agreement”). On January 15, 2002, Wjld6éCWV, and Land

*% See idat 249:14-250:5.

24 1d. at 254:14;see also id.at 107:4-11 (Wilson) (“Alan Murray and | would vkoron
management agreements and schedules to manageagresrhants to make sure that we got the
payback periods, the projected sales each month, stheduling on when we thought
construction money was going to be spent, so we Wweping sales would flow in, cash flow to
project. But Alan Murray and | would work on thest parts of that together.lyj. at 254:7-14
(Murray) (“[Patten and Wilson] would work out thadic terms, | call it the terms from 50,000
feet. They would determine how the profits woukl shared. They would discuss who was
going to provide financing, where it would comenfro And then they would turn that, the
process of drafting the contract, over to me, amauild work with Hunter Wilson to plug in a
lot of the budget-type numbers that fall into thbedule.”);id. at 432:9-14.

5 See, e.g.id. at 409:10-410:2see also idat 409:23-410:2 (Miller) (“[Wilson] was always
emphatic about me knowing and understanding thkliglgs of our agreements, the ones that
were most significant to he and I, borrowing moiley.
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Partners entered into another management agreepfésttive as of September
26, 2001, which governed the River Ridge Projete (t2002 Management
Agreement”). On October 15, 2002, Wilson, HCWVddsational Land Partners
entered into a project addendum, which governedAgtgon Woods Project; this
agreement was terminated on April 14, 2003 (thejdt Addendum”). On April
14, 2003, the Defendants entered into a manageamrement, effective as of
October 15, 2002, which governed the Ashton WoGQulessings on the Potomac,
and Westvaco Romney Tract (“Westvaco”) Projecte (tR003 Management
Agreement”). On December 3, 2004, the Defendamiered into another
agreement in order to adjust the allocation of @mkales, which was effective as
of November 3, 2004 (the “2004 Management Agreethéht The 2004
Management Agreement governs the following projeR¥estvaco Greenbrier
Tract — Hart's Run, the Pointe, and the Long PtojeNational Land Partners,
Wilson, and Wilson’s Virginia company, Hunter CO\OA, LLC, also entered into
a management agreement on August 18, 2006, efeasvof August 8, 2006,
which governs the Black Diamond Ranch Project (tB806 Management

Agreement”).

6 See, e.gid. at 153:3-7, 296:9-19.



B. Profit Allocation for the Defendants’ Joint Projsct

As reflected in the 2000 Management Agreement,ddati Land Partners
and HCWV initially divided profits and losses fromach project evenly.
However, the parties aimed for a profit of 25% obsg sales and, by late 2001,
certain projects had failed to generate this exgeceturrt’ Patten, at trial,
explained:

[W]e had a string of properties and projects thatem’t going well

that we didn’'t make money on. And it was my desirat least, if

I’m investing money, putting time into it—and wevested quite a bit

of money in those projects—to have some kind oframal return, or

a return’®
Consequently, Wilson and Patten agreed to modigir tarrangement so that
National Land Partners was guaranteed a fixed aateturn?® Pursuant to this
new arrangement, National Land Partners receivpteterential profit of 12.5%
gross sales. As Murray noted:

The purpose of the Preferential Profit provisiontlod Management

Agreements was to ensure that potential Projecestifted by

[HCWV] (through Wilson) were consistent with [Natial Land

Partners’] profit expectations [of at least 25%sales], and generated
a return to [National Land Partners] of 12.5% dés

" See, e.gid. at 39:1-23; JX 40 (Murray Aff.) T 12.

*® Trial Tr. 39:10-163ee also idat 115:24-116:5.

29 See, e.gid. at 411:16-21 (Miller) (“]W]e were not doing wellWe had personnel issues. We
had at least two projects that were very weakoifthree. And so it was somewhat of a half-halt
from [Patten] to [Wilson]. And as | said, [Wilspwasn’'t happy about it, but we understood.”).
30 JX 40 (Murray Aff) at § 12:see alsoTrial Tr. 263:10-19 (Murray) (noting that “this
arrangement was Mr. Patten’s way of incentivizinghtér Wilson to bring him projects that had
at least a 25 percent operating profit, and inagbent that he did not, it put all the risk on Mr.
Wilson”).
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This arrangement meant that after National Landniees received its preferential
profit, HCWV would receive the balance. In the mviihat gross sales fell short of
the preferential profit, however, HCWV would bepessible for any shortfalff:

The 2002 Management Agreement between the Defesdahich governed
the River Ridge Project, was the first agreementeftect this preferential profit
arrangement. Specifically, Section 6.2 of that éggnent provides, in relevant
part:

Profit participation by [Land Partners] and [HCW¥hall be as

follows: [Land Partners] shall receive a profit fp@pation equal to

10% of gross lot sales and 12.5% of gross timbecgeds. [HCWV]

shall receive all remaining Net Profit. In the Bwvéhat the amount of

[Land Partners] profit participation calculatedaocordance with the

preceding formula exceeds the total Net ProfitntfigCWV] shall

receive no profit participation and shall be liabde[Land Partners]

for any shortfall amount.

The language providing that HCWV would be liable &my shortfall amount—the
“shortfall language”—provided for what the Defentlamefer to as “Negative
Manager Fees.” Negative Manager Fees, in othedsyare those fees incurred by

HCWV when a project fails to generate sufficienbgg sales to satisfy National

Land Partners’ preferential profit. For claritysake, | adopt the Defendants’

31 JX 40 (Murray Aff.) at  12.

32 JX 5 at NLP000156see alsoTrial Tr. 59:16-22 (Patten) (noting that Nationand Partners
received 10% of gross sales—as opposed to 12.5%aubedt was absorbing “a 2 1/2 percent
fee to a finance person, the person who loanedamewi); id. at 257:5-20, 264:21-265:4.
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convention of referring to HCWV’s payment of sude$ as “Negative Manager
Fees.”

Wilson explained at trial that the 2002 Managem&gteement was “the
first agreement where we switched ourselves ovarfieed return, so that [Patten]
acted more like a bank and got a guaranteed ratetofn on his investment™
Similar to a bank, Wilson explained, “if the prgjetidn’t do good, [Patten] still
wanted his certain rate of returf.” According to Wilson, therefore, this
arrangement “meant that if | did extremely goodtoa projects, | got it all [above
the preferential profit]. And if | didn’t, thenhad to pay the shortfalf”

C. Miller Contends that the Defendants Agreed to Hiate Negative
Manager Fees During a Trip to Bermuda in July 2002

Business negotiations between Wilson and Patteenotiook place
informally, including while the men were vacatiogitogether. Although Miller

often accompanied Wilson on these trips, she tedtthat “[Wilson] and [Patten]

33 |d. at 116:20-23see also idat 107:14-18 (Wilson) (“There’s always been oneves deals
with [Patten]. It's either been a 50/50 deal, whig the way we all started, and then later on we
went to a fixed return, so that they were more Bkkanker that knew what they were going to
get.”);id. at 119:14-22 (Wilson) (“[Patten] gave me the opoity to make a lot of money. But
also, in the same sense on his fixed return, ifgf@gect didn't do good, he still wanted his
certain rate of return. Would be no different thygming out here and borrowing $100,000 from
the bank for one year at 10 percent. They warit $#i®,000 at the end of the year whether you
did good or not. That's the way our business haays been like that.”).

*1d. at 119:16-17.

%d. at 117:22-24see also idat 108:5-9 (“[National Land Partners] wanted argngeed rate of
return, and . . . [HCWV] got all the upside, or [W] had all the downside, too. | mean
[HCWV was] responsible for what happened if [a podj went south.”).
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would never talk about business in front of anyb®ty Nevertheless, Miller may
have been present during informal discussions daggrbusiness, such as those
taking place over meafs.

In July 2002, Miller and Wilson vacationed with tat in Bermuda.
According to Miller, it was during this trip—wherthe parties discussed the
Ashton Woods Project—that Wilson and Patten agree@liminate Negative
Manager Fees, such that the River Ridge Project-eiiheproject governed by the
2002 Management Agreement—would be the only jomntjget where HCWV
could incur Negative Manager Fees.

By July 2002, Wilson had identified Ashton Woods HEWV’s next
prospective project; according to Miller, “[h]e dat was our home run, it was the
Superbowl, it was the World Series all rolled imtoe.®® Miller recalls that she
and Wilson discussed pursuing Ashton Woods witlzopéartner but that, “[o]Jut of
loyalty and [Wilson'’s] relationship with [PatterfJVilson] convinced me that if he

and [Patten] could make the deal right, get ridhef guarantee, that we should do

% 1d. at 419:6-7;see also idat 53:3-5 (Patten) (noting that he “made it a ficacnever to
discuss business—[he] always discussed it in @jwaith any of [his] associates”).

37 See, e.gid. at 51:11-15 (Patten) (“I never had a business imgetith Hunter Wilson when
his wife was there. We may have had talk ovemaeli table or cocktails where she may have
attended, but she was never, ever in a meetinig.at 105:9-11, 118:8-13d. at 124:17-20
(Wilson) (“[Miller] wouldn’t have participated [imegotiations] unless she heard something over
dinners, drinks, or if she happened to go out enbibat with us for a day or so, or she heard me
talking to her after the fact.”).

*®1d. at 416:1-3.
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the [Ashton Woods] deal with [Patterfl” Correspondingly, and based on her
conversations with and observations of Wilson, #ilcontends that, while in
Bermuda, Wilson successfully negotiated to elinendlhe preferential profit
guaranteed by HCWV to National Land Partners. Thesant to Miller that “the
slap on the hand that we got from River Ridge [gogd by the 2002 Management
Agreement and including Negative Manager Fees] aaolw be gone®

Although Miller testified at trial that Wilson andPatten reached an
agreement to eliminate Negative Manager Fees duhigy Bermuda trip, she
acknowledged:

| didn’t know the details. You know, | always weit for [Wilson] to

tell me. | never butted in, especially when hekspwith [Patten].

But when we were in private, he said that he hastgeoorked out. It

IS going in the right direction. He needs to imrt with [Murray], as

always, the new management agreerfient.
Despite not being privy to the negotiations thatktplace between Wilson and
Patten in Bermuda, a few things stood out to Mildout this trip. First, she

remembered that “[Wilson] would talk to me when Wweuld come back from

fishing with [Patten], tell me what was going oHe was worried about going to

3 |d. at 416:20-417:5see also idat 418:20-24 (Miller) (“[T]he goal was for [Wilsond present
[Patten] what the project had going for it, to a&gte change the management agreement, to get a
commitment so that [Wilson] could move on and knatat we were going to do with the
project.”).

“01d. at 417:12-135ee also idat 417:13-17 (explaining that “we had never haguarantee
before that. It was supposed to be for the [RiRieige] project; let's see what happens after that.
Let's see if we even do any more deals together #iat.”).

*1d. at 420:23-421:5.
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the trip, | remember. And when it was over, he wa®t happier® Miller,
seemingly, believes that Wilson’s happiness waseaiby the elimination of
Negative Manager Feé$. Second, Miller emphasized that one evening during
dinner, Patten told her that “he would be makinlittee bit more profit on this
project, on Ashton Woods, but it was such a great that [Wilson] and | were
going to make it up in the end . . **."National Land Partners contends that “the
reason [it] was going to make more on the Ashtorotigoproject is that Wilson
and Patten agreed that the 2.5% of sales payalblezaanine lenders, which had
been absorbed by [National Land Partners] under [2@2 Management
Agreement], would be considered a cost of the AsMéods project, boosting

[National Land Partners’] returf™

2 Transmittal Aff. of Nicholas Brannick to Nationahnd Partners’ Pre-Trial Op. Br. Ex. 10
(Miller Dep. Vol. ) at 20:22-21:1.
“*3 Notably, the Ashton Woods Project was expectedeerate large profits, and Miller was
asked at trial how this expectation influenced \dhAls mood:
Q. And that knowledge, the fact that you were gdimgnake millions off this
project, that's what Mr. Hunter Wilson was happyoai when he went to
Bermuda, isn't it?
A. Well, he did enjoy the money; that’s for sure.
Q. But that's what he was happy about, isn't it?
A. [Wilson] is not as shallow as that, | would like say. | mean, it was not
completely because of the money. This was—thigeptavas putting him on a
map on a lot of levels in his own head, and hedeslit.
Q. Nobody was thinking about negative manager ifedss project, were they?
A. Well, if you had asked that and River Ridge Imad existed in between, who
knows what would have happened?
Trial Tr. 475:7-24.
*1d. at 421:9-12.
> National Land Partners’ Post-Trial Op. Br. at 1@ (citation omitted)see alsoTrial Tr.
269:1-5 (Murray) (“Under this agreement, and beeatlse previous project had been so
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At trial, Patten testified that, although he andséf may have discussed the

upcoming Ashton Woods Project while in Bermuda,ytltkd not reach any

46

agreement “to change the allocation of profits &s$es.” Wilson also denied

negotiating with Patten to eliminate Negative Masragees while in Bermuda,
noting:

Basically what [Miller's deposition] says, it sa§fsat | was over-the-
moon happy about the deal, and she said | had iaggpbtaway the
negative number, or the guarantee of numbers. duarantee to
[Patten]. That’s just not true. | can tell yois ihot true, because |
signed this addendum three months later—two, timeaths later
when | signed this addendum. And one thing Haatgdh has done is
stuck to his word and done what he was going tadd,|'ve done the
same. So | did not—if | was happy and excited lilad a chance to
make 10 or $11 million on a piece of ground ane Ihever done that
before in my life, yeah, I'm going to be jumping apd down and
dancing. | guarantee you | was happy. There'sioubt about it. |
knew the deal was a slam-dunk home fun.

Three months after the Bermuda trip, HCWV, Wilsang National Land Partners
entered into a Project Addendum, which provided tfog accrual of Negative

Manager Fees, as described in more detail below.

successful, Mr. Patten and Mr. Wilson agreed that 2-1/2 percent override would not be
segregated but it would be a project expensé).. . .

% |d. at 45:17-20see also idat 54:19-22.

*71d. at 129:2-18.
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D. Following the Bermuda Trip, the Defendants Entetoira Project
Addendum that Provides for Negative Manager Fees

In October 2002—post-Bermuda—the Defendants enterex a Project
Addendum designed to facilitate National Land Radhgoals of converting its
project managers into members, and of eventuatipgethe company publit®

Despite Miller's testimony that Wilson and Pattgyresed while in Bermuda
to eliminate National Land Partners’ guaranteedifprthe Project Addendum—
entered into after that trip—maintained the preféet profit arrangement first
reflected in the 2002 Management Agreement, inolyidhe associated Negative
Manager Fees.Specifically, Section 6.2 of the Project Addendurovides, in
relevant part:

[National Land Partners] shall receive a profittggsation equal to

12.5% of gross lot sales, 12.5% of the first $3iaml of gross timber

proceeds and 42.5% of the gross timber proceed=aess of $3

million. In the event that the amount of [Natiorladnd Partners]

profit participation calculated in accordance withe preceding

formula exceeds the total Net Profihen [HCWV] shall receive no

profit participation and shall be liable to [Natiah Land Partners]

for any shortfall amount All profit participation of [National Land

Partners] shall be allocated among the Class 1 Mesntx [National
Land Partners] and [HCWV] shall have no interesttioh amount$’

8 See, e.gid. at 122:7-10jd. at 268:4-13 (Murray) (“This document was created Bime when
Mr. Patten envisioned a couple of things. He eammsd National Land Partners being able to go
public, and he wanted to provide for Hunter Wilsord other managers to be equity owners of
National Land Partners. This was the first stéflioagh it never—we never went any further
than this document, this would have been the §itgp to calling them project members. The
next step would have been to actually grant themesequity in the project.”).

9 JX 9 at HUNTER000101-102 (emphasis added).
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At trial, Wilson testified that “this project adddum is no different than the
agreement before [it]. Since it was [a] fixed rafteeturn and it wasn’t 50/50, if
the project did great, | did great. If the projeadn’t do great, [National Land
Partners] still got [its preferential profit]. Anthad the shortfall language in it,
but that was the deal. And that was the deal Wévatl by.”® Wilson also noted
that because this Project Addendum was a “branddoemyment,” he “would have
read it very closely™

E. The Project Addendum is Terminated as the DefesdReturn to the
Management Agreement Format

The Project Addendum proved to be unpopular amormrgoNal Land
Partners’ various partners, the plan to eventuailyg the partners in as members
was abandoned, and National Land Partners soomrneetuto the original
management agreement forrmfat. According to Murray, when the parties
transitioned from the project addendum form backh® management agreement

form, “[t]he terms were supposed to be identical.”

* Trial Tr. 126:5-11.

>L1d. at 130:14-16.

°2 See, e.g.id. at 136:15-137:1jd. at 279:16-21 (Murray) (“We abolished that, theofpct
addendum] form, and terminated the agreement. alt & result of confusion that was being
caused by our all of a sudden calling people ptajeembers and Mr. Patten’s decision that
taking the company public was probably not somegthivat was going to happen.”).

*3 Transmittal Aff. of Nicholas Brannick to Nationakhnd Partners’ Pre-Trial Op. Br. Ex. 9
(Murray Dep.) at 73:15-16ee alsorlrial Tr. 279:21-280:1 (Murray) (“So we simply daway
with the project addendum and the schedule to [pineject addendum and replaced them with
what we thought were identical management agreesmand schedule to management
agreement.”)id. at 283:19-22.

17



In fact, the Ashton Woods Project, managed by HC\W&#s governed first
by the Project Addendum, and then, after the Addenisl termination in April
2003, by the 2003 Management Agreeménfs Wilson testified at trial, “[a]ll we
did was change [the] form of documents. Any negimn or anything that was
done with this deal was done with Harry in July’@2, the year before. We
already had the deal running. We weren’t goinghtange horses in the middle of
the road.” He further said the deal was not changed because

[d]uring this time frame, [HCWV] was doing extremetell, and we

were doing extremely well under this agreement.d Amere was no

need to even discuss it. | mean it was—at thag finwas full-bore

down the road, you can go as hard as you can gzaude as fast as

you can get it ready to go to market is as quicls@sebody could

buy it. So there was nothing about the agreenmrent Dctober of '02

that was causing us any heartache, so we just evedbwn the road

with it.*°

Later management agreements, including the 200&alyEment Agreement,
however, lack the shortfall language providing tlidn the event that the amount

of [National Land Partners] profit participation . exceeds the total Net Profit,

then [HCWV] shall receive no profit participationdashall be liable to [National

>4 Specifically, the Project Addendum and accompamy@thedule were terminated in April
2003. Miller emphasizes the termination languageviding that these agreements “are and
shall be deemed null and void and terminatbdnitio, and shall have been of no force or effect
whatsoever at any time.” JX 13. At trial, sheested that the Project Addendum “was never
binding to Ashton Woods” because this agreement sugerseded by the 2003 Management
Agreement. Trial Tr. 461:6-462:24 (contending, iaddally, that the Project Addendum was
“not properly executed” because “[tlhe content wascorrect”).

°°1d. at 138:22-139:3.

*®|d. at 140:11-20.
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Land Partners] for any shortfall amount.” The Defendants argue that this
language, providing for Negative Manager Fees, mastakenly omitted” from
these agreements. Wilson, for one, did not read the 2003 Management
Agreement (or other management agreements) closely.trial, he described his
approach as the Defendants transitioned from tbg&rAddendum to the 2003
Management Agreement:

This was a management agreement. | had seenlbéz®. | was

pretty comfortable with them. | looked at the mertages. | knew

what a management agreement was. | had worked itnide years

before. No. | didn't pay close attention othearthto look at my

percentages matched up from one to the other. thRigleal was

already running. . . . Would have been the 120&f2ent, would have

been the stuff over $3 million—the timber proceegsr $3 million.

The schedule probably included something to do Wtancing and

different things like that. | would have lookedthé budget numbers

to make sure all the budget numbers stayed conigtthe deaf?
Similarly, Patten rarely read the agreements irficivhe entered closefy.

National Land Partners contends that this shofdajuage was omitted as a
result of a scrivener’s error. National Land Parsnemphasizes that this shortfall

language is reflected in the Project Addendum, Wwhias used as a template for

the 2003 Management Agreement, and conjectureswihan eliminating the last

>’ SeelX 5 at NLP000156; JX 9 at HUNTER000101-102.

8 See, e.gHunter Defs.’ Pre-Trial Op. Br. at 11.

*9 Conversely, Wilson testified that the Project Addiem “was brand new to me, and | would
have read it very closely.” Trial Tr. 130:15-16.

%0d. at 139:5-20.

®l |d. at 35:21-23, 41:8-10. Patten also “authorizecersthto sign [his] name to contracts
between National Land Partners and [HCWVId. at 42:21-24see also idat 79:7-80:9.
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sentence in Section 6.2 of the Project Addendumertesice that was no longer
relevant—this shortfall language was inadvertedtyeted. Murray, who drafted
the Project Addendum and the relevant managemergegnts among the
Defendants, testified that the shortfall languages vemoved because:
| made a mistake. | inadvertently deleted it. tEh#éhe best | can
determine as to how it happened. The project atldenhad an
additional sentence beyond this, and near as detgrmine, when |
was deleting the last sentence, | also overdelatet] didn’t catch
myself®
The 2003 Management Agreement was then used asmplate for later
agreements, meaning that the alleged scriveners @aras carried over into and
reflected in these later documefitsConsequently, when the Defendants decided
to change the profit allocation of timber proceeas thereby entered into the
2004 Management Agreement, “the mistake perpetuiggetf.”®* Additionally,

the Defendants contend that their course of dealimgr a protracted period

demonstrates that the parties intended to accoumMdgative Manager Fees in the

%2|d. at 287:8-13see also idat 293:16-18 (Murray) (noting that “[t]he infornia that | used to
draft the [2003 Management Agreement] was the méion that was in the project
addendum?”); JX 40 (Murray Aff.) 1 30.

®3 See, e.g.Trial Tr. 297:1-4;id. at 297:12-16 (Murray) (‘I use the previous agreenas a
template and change what needs to be changed. whed | created this agreement, | didn’t
notice that the phrase was missing; thereforedh’tliadd it at this point.”);see alsoid. at
254:23-255:2 (Murray) (describing how he would reglagreements between Wilson and Patten
into contract form: “l would start with a previoagreement, and it would be on my computer,
and | would simply cut, paste, delete, and crdsenew agreement from the previous.”).

® |d. at 297:4;see also id.at 153:3-11 (Wilson) (“The reason this [2004] [Mimement
[Algreement is here is because the—this is forflemdint project, and had different—a different
amount of timber, so they changed the timber pmeee. . . And this project didn’'t have
shortfall language. It got left out. Just got ledit by accident. But the deal was the samea@s th
deal had always been since October of '02.”).
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2003 and 2004 Management Agreements, as theirgamant since 2001 has
“provided for the accrual and/or offset of negatinanager fees”

Conversely, Miller contends that this language wmgentionally removed by
the Defendants and that the 2003 and 2004 Manadehgeaeements as currently
written accurately reflect the profit allocationtveen HCWV and National Land
Partners. Miller, who remembers a protracted peab“negotiations” following
the Bermuda trip, testified that the 2003 Managdmgmeement was not initially
consistent with Wilson and Patten’s discussion8@armuda. She emphasized
Wilson’s dissatisfaction with Murray as he draftad agreement that did not
comport with Wilson’s understanding of the deablaxing that

[Wilson] went back and forth with [Murray] for mdm about the

terms of it. [Wilson] would get a fax. | wouldtghe fax, put it in his

office, bring it home to him, whatever the case rhay He would go

through it. He was very upset through most ofrtegotiations of that

agreement. . . . He was upset that [Murray] didgsd the terms right,

that it was not what [Wilson] had agreed to witatten]>®
When asked by her attorney with which terms Wilsod Murray disagreed, she

responded: “The money” She further clarified, “[t]he timber, the percageé of

profit to Mr. Patten, National Land Partnef§.”

® Hunter Defs.’ Pre-Trial Op. Br. at Zee alsoTrial Tr. 148:4-7 (Wilson) (“The shortfall
obligation, it does—it may not be in the main masragnt agreement, but it's the same deal him
and | shook hands on and have done business witil finose years.”)d. at 295:9-11 (Murray)
(“My understanding was that [the 2004 ManagementeAment] was identical to all the
previous agreements and that negative managecdeds happen.”).

°°1d. at 422:17-423:2.

°71d. at 423:3-5.
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When asked specifically about whether Wilson mdwenges to Section 6.2,
Miller replied: “Of course. That is what he haeotiated with Mr. Patten. It was
the most important part of our agreemétit.” However, she could not testify to
what specific changes were made to the 2003 Managieigreement, although
she noted “it was pretty significant,” as “he woutdoss out sentences and
paragraphs™ In fact, although Miller noted that she and Wiisdiscussed the
“guarantee” and “[t]hat he crossed it out actuadigg he said it is not supposed to
be on there when her attorney asked, “You saw him cross i?behe replied
vaguely: “I saw many of his contracts. But yestth what he did. He would
cross it out . . .  Miller, who testified that she did not know therrs of the
Defendants’ negotiations until their agreement Vialized,® also “did not read
[the finalized agreement] word for word” becauseh¥] trusted [her] husband. He
was a wonderful negotiator, and . . . he showed fine highlights. He showed

[her] the important things to [them] that differedm the previous™

%%1d. at 423:7-8.

%91d. at 488:24-489:2.

%1d. at 488:15-16.

M1d. at 423:9-13.

21d. at 423:14-16.

31d. at 421:15-22 (noting that she “didn’t know [thegise terms] until the final terms, until the
agreement was completely finished . . Byt seed. at 424:14-17 (affirming that she had seen
earlier, inaccurate drafts of the 2003 Managemenedment).

4 |d. at 486:24-487:4see also idat484:15-19 (noting that “[Wilson] spoke with [hetf] langth
about a lot of his agreements as far as . . . whiatract he was writing, rewriting, passing back
and forth, finalized, and specifically the managetegreements”).
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Under Miller's understanding of the alleged renegain, if a project did
not make a profit, or made a profit of less tharb%, HCWV wamot obligated to
pay the difference to National Land Partners. Adicw to Miller, that agreement
was reached during the Bermuda trip in July 20Q2,the October 2002 Project
Addendum, which initially governed the Ashton WooBsoject, did include
Negative Manager Fees. In fact, it was not uhtk agreement was restated in the
2003 Management Agreement, which also governed oAsM/oods, that the
Negative Manager Fee provision was dropped.

F. The Divorce

In June 2005, Miller filed for divorce in the FagnilCourt of Berkeley
County, West Virginid® At that point, HCWV was managing six ongoing real
estate projects for National Land Partners, eadclergped by either the 2003 or
2004 Management Agreemefits According to Miller, she and Wilson thereafter
agreed that, in exchange for Miller distributingr f©% interest in HCWV to
Wilson, she *“would receive the value of her 50%eilast at equitable

distribution.”” However, the value of Wilson’s manager fees ashefdate of

> Wilson v. Wilson706 S.E.2d 354, 358 (W. Va. 2010).

® The following projects were ongoing when Millerdaiwilson separated: Ashton Woods,
Crossings, Overlook at Greenbrier, Springs at Saejstown, Westvaco, and the Point. JX 41
(Wilson Aff.) 11 10-11 (noting that Negative Manadeees were incurred for the Pointe and
Westvaco Projects).

" Am. Compl. 7 9.
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separation, a valuation critical to equitable dlistiion, was uncertaiff On
November 21, 2008, the Berkeley County Family Cauntered a final order of
divorce, finding that the net value of HCWV was®%8,,957 and ordering Wilson
to pay over $4.9 million plus interest to Mill€r. Although that decision has been
reversed and remanded, it was this decision tlemitated the filing of the matter
pending before me.

Specifically, although the shortfall language isssmg from the 2003 and
2004 Management Agreements, the Defendants acabéoteéNegative Manager
Fees when projects failed to generate sufficieosgsales to satisfy National Land
Partners’ preferential profit. In fact, in Decemi®#008, following the initial
judgment of the Family Court, HCWV transferred apgmately $5 million to
National Land Partners, most of which accountedtlfi@ payment of Negative
Manager Fees. Miller, in her Amended Complaintiteads that this payment was

not required under the terms of the Defendantse@gent, and that Wilson paid

8 See, e.gJuly 31, 2013 Oral Arg. Tr. 7:6-9 (“[T]he onlysise that's ever been contested in the
State of West Virginia in this divorce is the makiinterest in the Hunter Company of West
Virginia.”); id. at 56:6-11 (“There was a stipulated equitablerithgtion amount that was
determined between the parties and paid over byWilson to the plaintiff. That included
Hunter Company’s value. The only portion that remaed was the value attributable to the pre-
separation date management fees8e also Wilsqn706 S.E.2d at 358 (“By May 2008, the
parties had divided their personal property andhtified and stipulated to the value and
distribution of all of their marital assets and t¥hexcept for the calculation and valuation of
Hunter's manager fees.”il. at 359 (noting that “the sole issue in contentiloat was litigated
before the family court was the valuation of [Wits&] manager fees on the projects that existed
at the date of separation for purposes of equitdiskeibution”).

9 JX 27 (noting, additionally, that Wilson had prausly paid Miller over $4.3 million).
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these fees, purportedly owed by HCWYV, to impede aleility to collect at
equitable distribution.

However, as noted above, the Defendants conterid\ibgative Manager
Fees were very much a part of their arrangemelngjtahadvertently deleted from
the 2003 and 2004 Management Agreements, as wehea2006 Management
Agreement between National Land Partners and WsdsWirginia company, an
agreement not implicated by equitable distribution.

In fact, Wilson testified that he first learned tthlais shortfall language was
absent on April 6, 2012, at a deposition during gendency of his divorce
proceedings. As Wilson recounted at trial, dutimg deposition, he realized that
this language was missing “because | had to readdibcument while [Mr.
Campbell, Miller’s attorney] was there staring a.mAnd [the shortfall language]
wasn’t in there® Although this language was missing, Wilson emjzeaks at
trial that “[the shortfall language] may not betive main management agreement,
but it's the same deal [Patten] and | shook hamdar@ have done business with

for all those years®

80 Trial Tr. 143:21-144:3.
811d. at 148:4-7.
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Following his April deposition, Wilson contactedulMay, who was also
unaware that the shortfall language was mis$ingviurray’s state of mind is
reflected in an email from Murray to Wilson and et on April 11, 2012, which

reads:

Please take a look at the Project Addendum whigfinseon Page 11
of the attached scan. As | have previously testifn Court [in West
Virginia], the [2003] Managements Agreement wastd to replace
the Project Addendum and was intended to have ic@rerms. It
appears that when | created the replacement Maragefgreement
| inadvertently omitted an important portion of sec 6.2. At the top
of page 12 of the Project Addendum are the words ‘and shall be
liable to Company for any shortfall amount.” Thegads explain the
way we have accounted for the Negative Manager Bked these
years>

Importantly, Murray had previously testified, dwgiMiller and Wilson’s divorce
proceeding in May 2008, that HCWV *“bears all thekrof loss and enjoys all of
the potential profit that a project can receiveaffational Land Partners receives
a guaranteed percentage of sales as its compen&itio

G. The Economy

Although Miller emphasizes the timing of HCWV’symaent of millions in

Negative Manager Fees so soon after the family tsowaward concerning

82 See, e.gid. at 303:14-22 (“My first reaction was you got tolidding me. But when | went
back and looked at those agreements and realiztdt ttvasn’t there, | started trying to figure
out what happened, and it caused me to keep lodiang. | looked at the project addendum. |
looked at the previous management agreement, salariguage there, put two and two together
and said, ‘l can see what | did. | made a mistgke.

% JX 35 at NLP000332.

8 JX 55 at 131:2-6.
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equitable distribution as indicative of fraud, taing of the real estate market
crash is also relevant here.

In the early to mid-2000s, the real estate busimessbooming. During this
period, HCWV was extremely profitable, as was Naio_and Partners, although
HCWV made more money—sometimes much more—from fbait projects. To
illustrate, the Ashton Woods Project generated &24r.5 million for the HCWV
and approximately $6 million for National Land Pems®  Similarly, the
Crossings on the Potomac Project generated ovém$dlion for HCWV and only
$2.5 million for National Land Partnety. This outcome was driven by the fact
that National Land Partners was subject to a cappeterential profit, while
HCWV earned all gross sales beyond National LanthBes’ 12.5%.

Both parties were aware that this arrangement aadirig to outsized profits
for HCWV. However, when asked at trial why he dat change the deal back to
the original 50/50 arrangement, Patten explainesl t@asoning as follows:
“Because | had made an agreement with Mr. Wilsahlgride myself on keeping
my agreements. My word is my word. And he’s alsvlgen that way with me
and I've always been that way with hifff.” Wilson was also not unaware of this

disparity in profits, but noted that “[Patten] didbegrudge me when | was making

8 Trial Tr. 279:6-8.
86d. at 290:23-291:3.
871d. at 44:7-11.
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a lot of money, and he never tried to change tled waen we were doing really
good.®®

Then, the real estate market came crashing ddwrPatten noted that, as a
result, “[Wilson’s] sales slowed way down and .it became more expensive to
sell, became more difficult to find prospects. Andecame very difficult to make

a profit.”°

Wilson similarly recalled that “everything wendwin the tubes pretty
quick. . . . There’s no sales, bank stops lendiogey, it's just a perfect storni™
As to their joint projects, Patten recalled thatytiflost money, and the—what
[they] call the negative management fees increa¥ed.

The Defendants accounted for Negative Manager &eesmonthly basi¥,

and financial statements of National Land Parttiess were presented during trial

reflect that the Defendants contemplated, and axtedufor, Negative Manager

%1d. at 141:11-13.

8 At trial, Patten recounted that “[i]t was like sebody shut the lights off in the room. | mean
the whole real estate market collapsed. Salegms®ld. And it was a very, very difficult time
for not only my company, but other companiekd” at 46:13-17.

201d. at 46:22-47:1.

*L1d. at 134:15-17.

%21d. at 47:19-21.

% See, e.gid. at 336:13-20 (Murray) (“The purpose [of accruiregative manager fees] was for
us to understand where we were in each of his gijeWe owned the projects and we were
preparing our financial statements, so every maviten we did our financial statements, we
needed to know did we make money, did we lose mombkgre do we stand. So the purpose of
accruing them was to get our financial statemes&caurate as possible.”).
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Fees’ In fact, Negative Manager Fees had previoushnhbereurred by HCWV
during certain months of ongoing projettsAs Wilson testified,
[there were months . . . like in December, whes liard to sell real
estate in December, but you still—I still got seares to pay, | still
got electric to pay, I've still got all these exgen to pay, where we
didn't have sales. There were months that we hagative—a
negative number. The good news was the good manttvgeighed
what few bad months we h&d.
However, the recession had a noticeable impacherDefendants’ joint projects,
leading to the accrual of Negative Manager Feesdanpleted project¥. In fact,
Negative Manager Fees became so “unsustainablée’irth@ctober 2008, before

the West Virginia family court first ruled on hisvdrce, Wilson asked Patten to

change this profit allocation during a meeting itlaAta, Georgid> Though the

% See, e.g.JX 8; JX 21. The Plaintiff challenges the “proba value” of the manager fee
schedules and financial statements presented byD#fendants. See Miller's Pre-Trial
Answering Br. at 7see alsdlrial Tr. 27:6-11. | am cognizant of the fact thf€WV’s accrual

of Negative Manager Fees accelerated post-separatwhich, according to the Plaintiff,
demonstrates the unnecessary and collusive ndttine payments made.

% In fact, Murray testified that a manager fee sciedvas “prepared every month, starting with
the beginning of a project . . . when National Ld@Partners was receiving a . . . [p]referred
percentage of sales and a preferred percentagmlmdit proceeds.’ld. at 306:21-307:5see also
id. at 307:9-13jd. at 317:10-14 (Murray) (“[Wilson] might not havecesved them regularly. If
he asked about manager fees, they would have legrtcs him, but | don’t believe we were
routinely sending these every month, as we didittaacials.”).

%1d. at 206:13-22.

% See, e.gJX 40 (Murray Aff.) 1 17.

% See, e.g.Trial Tr. 48:2-9 (Patten) (“Mr. Wilson came to rileOctober [2008] at a meeting in
Atlanta . . . and said, ‘Look, I'm choking to death this. | got to change the deal.” And I—we
sat, and | said, ‘Look. We’'ll go back to the ongi 50/50 deal. We put a deal together and we
make it, you get half, | get half. If not, it'se¢lsame.™);id. at 169:17-170:11id. at 300:21-
301:4;id. at 301:22-302:9 (Murray) (“A couple things happereg that meeting. Mr. Patten
agreed to go back to the old 50/50 arrangemenstopltaking a preferred percentage of profits.
He also agreed to give Mr. Wilson a reduction fdratvMr. Wilson considered to be excessive
marketing that we had incurred. And we also talabdut Mr. Wilson’s commission should we
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parties decided to return to their original 50/%taagement, this has not yet been
reflected in any written agreemenits.

Further, although the parties changed their prafiangement, HCWV
continued to pay the Negative Manager Fees incyprext to this modification,
despite the fact that the shortfall language wassimg from the 2003, 2004, and
2006 Management Agreements. Notably, pursuanthéo 2006 Management
Agreement, Wilson has caused his Virginia companydy Negative Manager
Fees to National Land Partners. Yet, this projexg, in Wilson’s words, “all post-
marital and has nothing to do with anything in divorce.™®

H. The December 2008 Transfer

According to the Defendants, as of November 2@08,\Westvaco, Pointe
and Black Diamond Ranch Projects did not produceugh profit to satisfy
National Land Partners’ preferential payment, legdo the accumulation of over

$4.5 million in Negative Manager Fe®s. Additionally, HCWV also owed

National Land Partners for cancelled project castsyell as certain overpayments

acquire the Hamer project, that it would be appteethe negative—to the liabilities that Hunter
Wilson’s companies had to National Land Partners. .as a result of operating losses and
negative manager fees.”).

%1d. at 302:20-21 (Murray) (“It was not [memorializeu Wwriting]. It was a handshake, and |
never got around to writing an amendment.”).

1994, at 165:13-14.

101 3X 40 (Murray Aff.) T 17.
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associated with the Ashton Woods and ShepherdsRnajects:”?> As an offset,

however, HCWV was owed manager fees for the Ovkr&ddsreenbrier and Long
Projects. Nevertheless, even after offsetting wh@wWV owed National Land
Partners with what National Land Partners owed HC\WZWYV owed National

Land Partners over $3.1 millidf?

In December 2008, HCWV earned a $3.4 million adtjars commission
from a National Land Partners’ affiliate (the “Ham@ommission”). Because
HCWYV owed National Land Partners over $3.1 millitre Defendants agreed that
this commission would be paid directly to Natioriaind Partners to partially
offset the amount that HCWV owéd. Murray notes that, at the time of this
Hamer Commission offset, a portion of HCWV’s prefirom the Overlook at
Greenbrier and Long Project “were also applied ¢pay Negative Manager
Fees.'® At trial, Wilson explained that these fees weeddpto National Land
Partners through accounting transfers, noting ‘thaever got the money to give

the money back. They just moved the money from Miwiter, LLC, to National

192|d. at 1 16, 18see alsdrrial Tr. 289:8-14id. at 289:21-290:1 (Murray) (“Hunter Company
of West Virginia, under the terms of our agreeméiat] responsibility for all operating losses,
and our share was strictly a percentage of salémber and a percentage of sales of lots.”).
103 3X 40 (Murray Aff.) 9 19-21.

10435ee, e.gid. at 1 21.

195 1d.; see alsoJX 41 (Wilson Aff.) 6 (“The purpose of the assiggnt of the Hamer
commission or fee was to offset negative manages éeeated primarily by the downturn in the
economy on several land development projects ichvRiCWV was the manager.”).
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Land Partners, or whatever company they were moivitog"*°® According to the
Defendants, the timing of this December 2008 tensfas based not on the
issuance of the West Virginia family court’s ordent was instead “tied entirely to
the commission on the Hamer property becoming ddepayable **’

I. Summary of Management Agreements

Figure | illustrates in graph form the agreementslas which HCWV
worked with National Land Partners. As representedil September 26, 2001,
the profits were split 50/50; between late Septen#i¥)1 and mid-April 2003,
including under the Project Addendum that initiadigverned the Ashton Woods
Project, National Land Partners was guaranteecetenential profit, and HCWV
received everything above that amount. During tatiod, HCWV was also
responsible to National Land Partners for any salbrhowever, via the Negative

Manager Fees. After mid-April 2003, the managenagmeéements maintained the

198 Trial Tr. 165:23-166:35ee also idat 132:8-13 (Wilson) (explaining that National dan
Partners did not “take money out [until] all theslare sold and all the bills are paid, unless
they're paying some taxes or something if it's dtryear project. But normally they don’t take
their money out until the tail end of the dealglike do.”).

197 3X 40 (Murray Aff.) 1 22see alsdTrial Tr. 224:10-19 (Wilson) (“That commission wased

to offset negative manager fees, because we haddikcussion—[Murray], [Patten], and
myself—either last of September, first of Octobér@3, on how | was going to repay the
negative manager fees that were continuing to agatm And also because | had went to
[Patten] because—I was losing my tail, and he wes anough to go back to the 50/50 deal.
But we discussed in October of ‘08 how | was gdingpay back the fees.”)d. at 224:23-24
(Wilson) (noting that the Hamer Commission “was ¢mdy way at the time | could get the bulk
of the money paid back”)d. at 302:4-9; JX 41 (Wilson Aff.) T 6 (*. . . the @ither] commission
was assigned to WV Hunter LLC, NLP’s subsidiary,l@cember 1, 2008. The purpose of the
assignment of the Hamer commission or fee was fsebfhegative manager fees created
primarily by the downturn in the economy on sevdeald development projects in which
HCWYV was the manager.”).
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preferential profit provision for National Land Beers and left in place all the
upside potential, once the preferential profit veasisfied, to HCWV; however,
agreements during this period omitted the downsdponsibility of HCWV.
II. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

On October 24, 2012, Miller filed a Verified Compia subsequently
amended, alleging that the Defendants have wranggypreted their management
agreements and that HCWYV paid certain fees to Nakiband Partners for the sole
purpose of obstructing her ability to collect auiaple distribution. In Count I,
Miller requests a declaratory judgment that neitBection 4.3 nor Section 6.2 of
the parties’ management agreements authorized uhes gaid by HCWV to
National Land Partners in December 2008, whichudetl the payment of
Negative Manager Fees. In Count Il, Miller reqaean order voiding the
December 2008 transfer as fraudulent, pursuant hts Delaware Uniform
Fraudulent Transfer Act. In Count Ill, Miller regsts the imposition of a
constructive trust over any funds fraudulently sfenred from HCWV or Wilson
to National Land Partners.

On April 1 and 2, 2013, the parties filed Cross-ido$s for Summary
Judgment. This matter was briefed, and at argumeduly 31, 2013, | denied the
parties’ Cross-Motions as to Count I. At that tirheommunicated the utility of

holding a brief evidentiary hearing on the limitisdue of whether there exists a
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basis for reforming the 2003 and 2004 Managemermedmgents® Further, |
stayed my decision as to Counts Il and llI.

A two-day trial was held on December 18, 2013 aedr&ary 4, 2014. The
parties completed post-trial briefing on March 2014. This is my Post-Trial
Memorandum Opinion.

1. LEGAL STANDARD

The Defendants seek reformation of the 2003 and4 2B@&nagement
Agreements, which they executed to govern themtjoeal estate development
projects. This Court may reform a contract wheftwatten instrument fails to
express the [parties’] real agreement or transa¢ti§ To achieve reformation,
the movant must demonstrate either a mutual mistékige contracting parties, or
a unilateral mistake by one contracting party andvking silence by the oth&f®
In cases of mutual mistake, the movant must dematestoy clear and convincing
evidence, that “the parties’ actual (oral) agreenweas not accurately reflected in

their executed written contract:* To satisfy this burden, the movant “must

19 Delaware is designated as the exclusive forumhithvto litigate disputes arising from those
agreementsSeeJX 11 at § 10.5; JX 17 at § 10.5.
199 Amstel Assocs., L.L.C. v. Brinsfield-Cavall Ass@§a2002 WL 1009457, at *5 (Del. Ch.

Il\{lgly 9, 2002) (internal quotation marks omitted).
Id.
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persuade the Court of the precise, orally-agreetktms that it seeks to have
judicially inserted into the contract™®
IV.ANALYSIS

Here, the Defendants contend that they mutuallgedythat HCWV would
be responsible for Negative Manager Fees, buthiaterm was inadvertently left
out of the management agreements at issue due tEcrigener’'s error.
Alternatively, the Defendants contend that theiurse of conduct demonstrates
that Negative Manager Fees were included in thengement.

| find the evidence clear and convincing that th@é02 and 2004
Management Agreements as written do not reflecDisfendants’ arrangement. A
prior management agreement and a project addendaotared into before the
agreements at issue, clearly accounted for Neghtaugager Fees. However, after
the contracting parties transitioned from a “projaddendum” form back to the
management agreement form, this language went nygissil find that it was
inadvertently removed when Murray intentionallyetetl a sentence that appeared
in the Project Addendum—following the shortfall ¢arage—from the 2003
Management Agreement, which was then used as aldawmmfor the 2004
Management Agreement. In other words, | find timtremoving the surplus

language from the Project Addendum to form the 2BR®hagement Agreement,

124
35



Murray also, inadvertently, removed the languagekingga HCWV liable for
Negative Manager Fees.

This explanation is strengthened by the fact that Rroject Addendum—
which provided for Negative Manager Fees—goverhedAshton Woods Project,
which was already underway when that Addendum wasihated and the 2003
Management Agreement was executed, suggestingheatrties did not intend to
change their arrangement during this transitidn.In fact, Wilson’s testimony
confirms this; he testified: “[a]ll we did was chgen[the] form of documents. Any
negotiation or anything that was done with thisldess done with Harry in July of
'02, the year before. We already had the deal ingan We weren’t going to
change horses in the middle of the road.”

Moreover, the Defendants credibly and clearly destrated at trial that they
did not intend to change the terms of their arramg® between the Project
Addendum and the later management agreements.efmR#tib parties continued to

account for Negative Manager Fees while pursuieiy fbint projects™® Further,

113 Although other provisions were changed when theigstransitioned from the Project
Addendum to the 2003 Management Agreement, inctuttie language of Section 4.3, it is clear
from the Defendants’ testimony that their arrangetrentemplated Negative Manager Fees,
and that they believed that accrual of these Fessprovided for in Section 6.2 of the 2003 and
2004 Management Agreements.

"4 Trial Tr. 138:22-139:3.

115 See, e.gid. at 326:14-17 (Murray) (being asked, “[o]n how mamgasions did Mr. Wilson
object to the accrual of negative manager feesheget [financial] statements,” and responding
“[nJone that | know of");see alsad. at 148:4-7 (Wilson) (“The shortfall obligation, dbes—it
may not be in the main management agreement,’buhé& same deal him and | shook hands on
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Wilson'’s Virginia company paid Negative Manager $&&National Land Partners
although the shortfall language is absent fromgbeerning 2006 Management
Agreement, and the project for which these feesewwsurred is not related to the
West Virginia divorce proceeding¥.

Although Miller tries to impute a nefarious purpdseHCWV'’s decision to
pay certain Negative Manager Fees in December 2608itly after a West
Virginia family court first ruled on her equitabdigstribution, I find that this timing
does not demonstrate that these fees were not awedr the Defendants’
arrangement. Miller, in effect, wants me to codeluhat Wilson caused HCWV
to pay millions of dollars in Negative Manager Fez&lational Land Partners that
it did not actually owe, and that Wilson knew it diot actually owe, in order to
spite her or obstruct her ability to collect at iégjpie distribution. | find this
conclusion to be an unreasonable one, and not sg@gpoy the parties’ testimony
at trial, nor the record before me. In fact, &l f\Wilson emphasized: “Why would
| pay a company 5 or $6 million that | didn’t hateeon the whim that | may or
may not owe my ex-wife some money? It just doesrake sense. You wouldn'’t

spend $10 to save $1, would yotl?” Wilson also testified that he planned on

and have done business with for all those yeaisl.”gt 163:11-16 (Wilson) (“My understanding
was the same as my understanding has been singedjeet addendum in '02; was that if the
projects did good, | made money. If they fell beit face, as they did with the economy here
that destroyed everything, now | owe money bec#us@rojects didn’t do as good.”).

°Seeid. at 165:6-14.

"71d. at 170:12-16.
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appealing the West Virginia court’s decision, whighdid; that decision has since
been reversed and remanded. While | realize tpigefal and self-destructive

behavior is not unheard of in the divorce contagtneither is collusive behavior to
shield funds from ex-spouses, nothing in the reamrdn the demeanor of the
defense witnesses suggests that such is the case he

Further, although Negative Manager Fees rarelyuaccibefore 2006, the
market crash had a noticeable impact on the Defdgsdmint projects, and these
Fees understandably began to accrue rapidly. AsDd@fendants testified, they
discussed, prior to the West Virginia family courtaking any decision on
equitable distribution, a return to their origirtdl/50 arrangement, as Wilson was
facing “unsustainable” levels of Negative Managee$:

Miller points out that the accounting statementrigyout the fees paid by
HCWYV to National Land Partners in December 2008zapp to have been created
on a Sunday; she suggests that this indicates efenBants were working together
for some fraudulent, or at least extraordinary, ppge. Murray, however,
explained that this accounting statement was nitadlg prepared on a Sunday.
Rather, as he explained, National Land Partnerso@atting adheres to a “4-4-5
month” schedule, meaning that

rather than having our year and our individual rhergnd on calendar

days, they end on a Sunday. So in the first quartethe year,
January has four weeks ending on a Sunday, Febhaarjour weeks
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ending on a Sunday, and March has five weeks ermiing Sunday.
... [T]hey rarely coincide with the month-efid.

Accordingly, Murray explained, Sunday was not they dhat this accounting
statement was prepared, but rather, correspontteeanonth-end date on which
we are doing the journal entry that will distribjitee Hamer] commission-**

Further, it is clear from the record that the Defmmts were unaware that the
shortfall language had been omitted until Wilsotéposition in April 2012. The
email later sent by Murray—who testified at the YWésginia divorce proceeding
that HCWV “pears all the risk of loss and enjoylsddithe potential profit that a
project can receive after National Land Partnecgiv@s a guaranteed percentage
of sales as its compensatidtt—confirms this.

Furthermore, Miller's testimony does not rebut #tlear and convincing
evidence presented by the Defendants at trial. hotilgh Miller testified that
Wilson and Patten, during their trip to Bermudaluty 2002, agreed to eliminate
Negative Manager Fees, she was not a party togheements at issue, and was
not privy to the negotiations between Wilson andtdPa Miller, furthermore,
offers no convincing explanation as to why the Ddents included Negative
Manager Fees in the October 2002 Project Addendumich was entered into

mere months after the Bermuda trip. Miller, ingtefocuses on her observations

1181d. at 321:9-20.
1191d. at 330:1-4.
120 3% 55 at 131:2-6.
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of and discussions with Wilson as he negotiate 08 Management Agreement.
Specifically, Miller remembers that Wilson crossad the “guarantee” and “said
it is not supposed to be on thef&:” However, when her attorney followed up by
asking: “You saw him cross it out?” Miller, insteaf confirming that she saw
Wilson cross out the shortfall language, repliedirectly: “I saw many of his
contracts. But yes, that's what he did. He woerdss it out . . . ¥2 Miller,
however, neither credibly nor consistently testifthat Wilson told her that the
Negative Manager Fees were taken out of the Agreenee that she saw him
crossing out the shortfall language in particdfar. In other words, Miller's
testimony is entirely consistent with an attempt é&yundamentally honest and
moral person to testify in support of a positioe sincerely believes in but cannot
directly confirm without uttering a lie. Thus, froMiller’'s testimony, it is clear
that, during the negotiations involving the Ashtdfoods Project and the 2003

Management Agreement, Wilson was initially anxiossbsequently happy, and

YL Trial Tr. 423:11-13.

22|d, at 423:14-16.

123 See, e.g.id. at 488:17-21 (answering the question “What spedfianges did Mr. Wilson
make to Section 6.2 of this agreement and fax bacKational Land Partners?” with the
following response: “I will not tell you the speicif | can't tell you the specifit) (emphasis
added)jd. at 488:4-16 (“Q. You have no knowledge as to th@nges he made to that agreement
and faxed back, do you? A. | watched my husbandnfany days, weeks, and then into months
go back and forth, correcting, changing, updatiisgnhanagement agreement. Q. But you have
no idea what those changes were? . . . A. Nojthwmas pretty significant. | mean, he would
cross out sentences and paragraphisl.’gt 493:21-494:4 (“Q. What did he tell you? Thatrio
longer guaranteed a profit to [National Land Paghe That's what you said he told you when
he finalized this in April of 2003; correct? A. Had me that it was over. He was—as | said, he
was very happy. The final management agreementdeas, and we could move on and do
business.”).

40



then later frustrated with Murray as they negotatespecified deal points. That
Is insufficient to rebut the clear and convincingidence presented by the
Defendants demonstrating that a scrivener’s emrdéaat occurred, and that Section
6.2 as written does not accurately reflect theiarmgement* To be clear, to the
extent | must resolve discrepancies between Mdlestimony, on one hand, and
that of Wilson, Murray and Patten, on the othefint the latter three to be
credibler®
V.CONCLUSION

Because | find that the Defendants have carriedr therden of
demonstrating, by clear and convincing evidencat thegative Manager Fees
should have been accounted for in Section 6.2 leué feft out due to a scrivener’s
error, | find it appropriate to dismiss Count IMiller's Amended Complaint, and

to reform Section 6.2 of the 2003 and 2004 Managegreements to reflect the

parties’ true agreement. The parties should coafer inform me what, if any,

124 Because | find that Section 6.2 must be reforredged not address the parties’ arguments as
to Section 4.3 of the Management Agreements aeissu

125 This is despite, and in light of, the Berkeley @guFamily Court's March 2, 2012 Order, JX
34, and Miller’s testimony that Wilson was firearin the Patten Corporation in the early 1990s
for misappropriating funds, Trial Tr. 400:5-16ee also idat 401:23-402:23 (explaining that,
following their termination from Patten CorporatjoRatten contacted Wilson and Miller to
discuss a potential partnership; Miller recountkdt tPatten told them: “I am interested in
backing you. | would like to be your partner. Ykmow what happened at Patten Corporation
was wrong, | know it was wrong, and we are goingnive on from it. We are going to do
business together.™).
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iIssues remain in this matter, and should submiappropriate form of Order

consistent with this Memorandum Opinion.
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Figure |

Agreement Parties Dated Effective Profit Distribution Shortfall Projects
L anguage
2000 Management| HCWV; July 17, July 17, 50/50 N/A Berkeley Glen;
Agreement NLP; Wilson 2000 2000 Meadows at Sleepy Creek
NLP Preferential Profit:
2002 Management| HCWV; January | September - 10% gross lot sales Yes River Ridge
Agreement NLP; Wilson | 15,2002 | 26,2001 | - 12.5% gross timber
proceeds
July 2002: Bermuda Trip
NLP Preferential Profit:
Project Addendum | HCWV;, October October | - 12.5% gross lot sales Yes Ashton Woods
NLP; Wilson | 15,2002 | 15,2002 |- 12.5% first $3 million of
gross timber proceeds
- 42.5% gross timber
proceeds over $3 million
April 14, 2003: Project Addendum Ter minated
NLP Preferential Profit:
2003 Management| HCWV; April 14, October |- 12.5% gross lot sales No Ashton Woods;
Agreement NLP; Wilson 2003 15,2002 | - 12.5% first $3 million of Crossings on the Potomac
gross timber proceeds Westvaco Romney Tract
- 42.5% gross timber
proceeds over of $3
million
NLP Preferential Profit:
2004 Management| HCWV;, December| November| - 12.5% gross lot sales No Westvaco Greenbrier Tract
Agreement NLP; Wilson 3, 2004 3,2004 |- 12.5% first $700,000 of — Hart’'s Run;
gross timber proceeds The Pointe;
- 42.5% gross timber Long Project
proceeds over $700,000
June 2005: Miller Filesfor Divorce
Hunter CO of NLP Preferential Profit:
2006 Management| VA, LLC; August 18,/ August 8, | - 12.5% gross lot sales No Black Diamond Ranch
Agreement NLP; Wilson; 2006 2006 - Timber proceeds as

outlined in Schedule

October 2008: Defendants Agree to Return to 50/50 Arrangement




